LIFE NARMENA -Literature Review Phytoremediation





LIFE NARMENA -LITERATURE REVIEW PHYTOREMEDIATION

INHOUD

1	Background, aims and objective	2
1.1	Cr Contamination	2
1.2	Human Health Hazard	2
1.3	Environmental Contamination	3
1.4	Cr Chemical Properties	3
1.5	Cr Remediation Techniques	3
1.6	Cr Phytostabilization	5
1.7	Phytostabilization of wetlands	5
1.8	Microbial-assisted Phytostabilization of Cr	11
1.9	Microbial-Assisted Chromium Precipitation	12
1.10	The effects of organic matter content on Cr Precipitation	12
1.11	The effects of PH on Chromium Precipitation	13
1.12	Chromium Phytoremediation using amendments	13
1.13	Chromium Hyperaccumulators	14
1.14	Criteria for Chromium Hyperaccumulators	14
2	References	17
2.1	References Tables 1 & 2	19

Summary

The object of this document is a literature review describing plant species which may be suitable for the phytoremediation of chromium (Cr) at the Grote Calie, Turnhout, Belgium. In addition to listing Cr phytostabilizing plant species, we describe aspects of microbial assisted phytostabilisation, microbe assisted Cr-precipitation, and the effects of organic matter, pH and amendments on Cr precipitation in the rhizosphere. We also listed plants that can hyperaccumulate Cr in the shoots, in order to inform the reader which plant species not to choose if the aim is to reduce Cr distribution to the wider environment, or transfer into the food chain (agricultural area). This literature review was performed by UHasselt for OVAM, as part of the NARMENA (<u>Na</u>ture-based <u>R</u>emediation of <u>Me</u>tal pollutants in <u>N</u>ature <u>A</u>reas) feasibility study with number BN200108, where bio2clean is responsible for the phytoremediation projects.

1 BACKGROUND, AIMS AND OBJECTIVE

The LIFE NARMENA project has the aim to demonstrate two nature-based remediation (NBR) methods in rivers and floodplains in nature reserves in Belgium. One of them is the phytostabilization of Cr, on the river banks of the Grote Calie, in Turnhout. The Cr input sources are no longer present but Cr remains in the sediments and on the river bank when the stream is cleaned, and polluted sediment is brought on the surface. Sometimes this sediment is unintentionally dragged further into land due to human-related activities or natural events as floods, forming a risk for uptake by agricultural crops.

Traditional remediation techniques for removing Cr are relying on the removal of the polluted matrix. These techniques are invasive, expensive and require more labour, than biological remediation approaches.

For the Grote Calie, bio2clean will use bacteria-assisted phytostabilization to lower the bioavailability and mobility of Cr and thereby decreasing the exposure and spread of this pollutant. In order to successfully apply this method, it is essential to know which plant species are most suitable for Cr retention in the roots, and which show minimal uptake of metals into the aerial parts. Prior to the field visit, we used this literature review to select plants on the field which are potentially most interesting to achieve this goal. A table is included in this review with a list of plant species (English and Dutch names) with their Cr accumulation and tolerance levels, as far as known from literature. Second, the goal of this review was to gain more knowledge on the role of bacteria, mycorrhizal fungi, but also organic matter, pH, and amendments to enhance Cr stabilisation, which will help conducting the feasibility study.

1.1 CR CONTAMINATION

Chromium (Cr) is an abundant heavy metal element in the Earth's mantle. It is also found in volcanic matter, soils, animals, and plants. Cr occurs naturally as chromite ($FeCr_2O_4$) or complexes with other metals like lead to form crocoite (PbCrO₄). Cr is utilized in a wide variety of industrial processes. Such processes include leather tanning, electroplating, textile production, paint and dye formulation, ceramic glazing, and inhibition of water corrosion (Oliveira, 2012, Liu *et al.*, 2020, Godlewska *et al.*, 2018).

The application of Cr in industrial processes inevitably has polluting effects on the environment by accidental and negligent mishandling Cr in industrial effluents. Anthropogenic deposition of Cr into terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems is a severe human health and ecological concern.

1.2 HUMAN HEALTH HAZARD

Cr can enter the food chain by its uptake in crops and waters by entering water streams. Cr is ranked seventh in the twenty most hazardous substances in the world by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry in the USA. Additionally, Cr is classified as a human carcinogen by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (Singh *et al.*, 2013; Thangadurai *et al.*, 2020). It mainly causes lung cancer, leukemias, and gastrointestinal tumors. Chromium toxicity also causes physiological damage like skin rashes, respiratory problems like asthma or bronchitis, and nasal ulcers that affect everyday life (Linos *et al.*, 2011).

1.3 ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION

Cr soil pollution is an environmental and economic concern for the terrestrial ecosystem and the agricultural industry. Speciated Cr in the soil can be taken up by plants, which can be a toxic phenomenon. Plant accumulation of Cr alters its physiological activities of the plant, such as photosynthesis, water transport, and adsorption of essential micronutrients. Such interferences can lead to plant death. Additionally, in the agricultural industry, crops that take up Cr have stunted growth and poor nutritional profiles, which devalues their currency. For these reasons, mitigation of Cr contamination is a prime remediation objective (Gheju *et al.*, 2017).

Cr may enter the natural waters by being discharged from industrial operations, speciating from Crcontaining rocks, and the leaching of soils. Additionally, historical contamination of Cr and the disposal of contaminated sediments can pollute the waters and the wetlands. Wetland plants can aggravate the toxicity of trace metals by releasing exudates that alter the pH or oxidize the rhizosphere, which can affect the speciation Cr, which in turn can pollute the waters and enhance their bioavailability to other organisms. Monitoring the water stream velocity, erosion and element availability of the wetlands is another critical aspect of mitigating Cr pollution to the terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Santos *et al.*, 2015, Teuchies *et al.*, 2013).

1.4 CR CHEMICAL PROPERTIES

Chromium has two environmentally-stable isotopes: the trivalent oxidation state (Cr(III)) and the hexavalent state (Cr(VI)). The health hazards associated with chromium exposure depend on its oxidation state. Cr(VI) is the more toxic form due to its high solubility, its rapid permeability through cellular membranes, and its strong binding affinity for proteins and nucleic acids (Godlewska *et al.*, 2018). Cr(VI)'s high water solubility is the chemical property that makes it a prime concern to public health for its entry into the food chain and drinking water. The maximum allowable level of chromium in drinking water, according to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is 100 ug/L (Singh *et al.*, 2013).

Conversely, Cr(III) is the less soluble isotope that is more likely to complex and precipitate out of solution; it adsorbs quickly on mineral surfaces or organic compounds, which makes it less bioavailable and, therefore, less toxic. Cr(III) is a beneficial micronutrient to humans and animals by enhancing insulin sensitivity in diabetics and by assisting in the metabolism of macronutrients (Godlewska *et al.*, 2018). Unlike Cr(VI), Cr(III) is passively diffused through cellular membranes and forms stable complexes with nucleic acids and proteins; it is less permeable to cell walls than Cr(VI). Cr(III) mobility decreases under highly acidic conditions and with clay adsorption.

1.5 CR REMEDIATION TECHNIQUES

1.5.1 Chemical remediation

Conventional remediation of Cr(VI) from industrial effluents involves its chemical immobilization and reduction into the less toxic Cr(III). Chemical treatment by sulphur or iron-based compounds like calcium polysulphide and amorphous iron sulphide are example additives applied to contaminated sites for cleaning. Chemical reduction, although practical, can be pricey and cause downstream environmental damage on-site (Dhal *et al.*, 2013).

1.5.2 Phytoremediation

Green remediation technology, like phytoremediation, is increasingly applied to remove heavy metal contamination from terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. Phytoremediation is the practice of utilizing plants and their associated microorganisms to reduce and detoxify contaminants like Cr in the environment (Gheju *et al.*, 2017).

Phytoremediation has the following advantages over conventional chemical techniques:

- 1 Cost-effective restoration technology.
- 2 Monitoring and maintenance of the site demand fewer labour hours.
- 3 An environmentally sustainable technique, less invasive than traditional civil engineer-based ones.
- 4 It can be integrated into other vegetation and landform design strategies and programs.

Limiting factors of phytoremediation technology include a slower reclamation time due for instance to the growth rate of plants and their growing season, a shorter depth of reclamation below ground, and partial reclamation due to limited bioavailability of the pollutant. For a phytoremediation approach to be successful the pollutants must be available to plants. This means that depending on how deep the pollution is located in the soil and/or (ground)water the most appropriate vegetation mix should be chosen. For instance, poplars have a root system which reaches up to 10 meters and are suitable plants for detoxifying groundwater flows. Depending on the remediation objective and chosen phytotechnology mechanism, the remediation duration will vary. Phytostabilization focuses on the establishment of a plant cover to immobilise metals in the soil or on talluds, with the aim of reducing the risk of further spread of the pollutants, and restoring the environmental status of a polluted soil to make it useable for private or public applications. Compared to phytoextraction, phytostabilization is much faster, and can already lead to some beneficial effects within one to few years.

Chromium is often phytoremediated by:

- 1 Phytostabilization:
 - a. *in situ* action, where the contaminant is detoxified and prevented from being translocated to the aerial parts of the plants;
 - b. The NARMENA project will apply phytostabilization to restore the Cr-contaminated site (see the section, Chromium Phytostabilization details).
- 2 Phytoextraction:
 - a. The process of removing heavy metal contaminants using (hyper)accumulator plants that can take up a large amount of the metal into their shoot system;
 - b. Phytoextraction is especially a sustainable technology for low-medium contaminated sites.

1.6 CR PHYTOSTABILIZATION

Remediation is approached with phytostabilization when large-scale areas of soil are contaminated with high concentrations of trace elements. Under high Cr(VI) conditions, plant growth is inhibited and therefore, phytoextraction is not a sustainable solution. Phytostabilization is a management strategy, which focuses on the long-term stabilization and containment of a trace element pollutant by using vegetation. Additionally, it prevents toxic metal forms from entering the food chain, by crop accumulation into the shoots, and our drinking waters. Phytostabilization utilizes plants and their associated microbes to retain contaminants, prevent their further dispersal, and decrease their bioavailability to the plant for uptake (Bolan *et al.*, 2011, Singh *et al.*, 2013).

The stabilization of Cr can be achieved by:

- 1 Detoxifying Cr(VI) into Cr(III) (see the section, Microbial-assisted reduction of Cr(VI)).
- 2 Immobilizing Cr(III) by precipitating out of solution and forming stable, solid complexes (see the section, Microbial-assisted Cr precipitation).
- 3 Using biosorbents to bioaccumulate Cr onto their surface.

1.7 PHYTOSTABILIZATION OF WETLANDS

Contaminated wetlands are often remediated with phytostabilization. In most wetlands, heavy metals are more bioavailable, where they frequently move from the sediments to the aboveground plant tissues. Their easy translocation to plant shoot systems can be toxic to the plants. The physicochemical traits of the belowground system affect metal mobility and hence their bioavailability.

Wetland plants are rooted in anoxic sediments, but they often maintain an aerobic root respiration system. These plants affect the redox potential in the rhizosphere as roots release oxygen into the system. When plant roots accumulate an excess of oxygen, they leak it out and consequently oxidize the rhizosphere. Oxidation alters the soil pH, which in turn affects metal mobility and bioavailability (see the section, The Effects of pH on Chromium Precipitation). Cr movement in contaminated sediments is similar to high zinc and cadmium contaminations in a marsh that infected willow trees (*Salix* sp.) (Teuchies *et al.*, 2013, Vandercasteele *et al.*, 2002). If they are not immobilized effectively, the metals will continue to move from the sediments, and transfer up to the shoot system.

Additionally, biosorption of Cr involves an ion-exchange mechanism with a biosorbent and has applications in wetland settings. For example, wetland plants like green macroalga, *Cladophora glomerata*, and marine macroalgae *Enteromorpha prolifera* accumulate Cr(III) ions onto the surface of their leaves (Godlewska *et al.*, 2018). Biosorption is practical under conditions where Cr(III) cannot precipitate out of solution (see section, The Effects of pH on Chromium Precipitation). The biosorption of Cr(III) is generally very rapid in the beginning when the concentration of Cr(III) is high in solution, and it gradually decreases as the plant reaches a homeostatic state with the ions (see table 1).

Plant Species	Dutch name	Plant family	Soil type – substrate	Cr in soil (mg/kg)	Cr in root mg/kg DW	Cr in shoot (mg/kg DW)	TF	Mechanism and extra info	Reference
Salix matsudana	Wilg	Salicaceae (wilgenfamilie)	N/A	NA	746	NA			Yu <i>et al.,</i> 2008
Salix babylonica	Wilg	Salicaceae (wilgenfamilie)	N/A	NA	559	NA		Root uptake	Yu <i>et al.,</i> 2008
Ailanthus altissima	Hemelboom	Simaroubaceae (hemelboomfamilie)	N/A	NA	358	NA		Root uptake	Ranieri <i>et al.,</i> 2016
Cichorium spinosum	Cikorie	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Manure	NA	300	NA		Precipitation; organometallic complexes	Antoniadis <i>et al.,</i> 2017
Pluchea indica	Indiase kamferwier	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	N/A	NA	152	NA		Root uptake, but also translocation to shoot	Sampanpanish et al., 2006
Cynodon dactylon	Handjesgras	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	N/A	NA	152	NA		Root uptake, translocation into shoots	Shahandeh <i>et al.,</i> 2000
Helianthus annuus	Gewone zonnebloem	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Sandy soil	NA	49.1	NA	0.49	Root uptake, 64.8 % removal by root, Arbuscular Mycorrhizzal fungi (AMF) could enhance Cr tolerance of sunflower	Dong <i>et al.,</i> 2007
Panicum antidotal	Vingergras	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Clayey soil	NA	43.3	NA	0.1	Root uptake, 68.5 % removal by root	Shahandeh <i>et al.,</i> 2000
Pennisetum purpureum	Olifantsgras	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Sandy soil	NA	33.8	NA	0.48	Root uptake, 66.8 % removal by root	Juel <i>et al.,</i> 2018
Gossypium hirsutum	Behaarde katoen	Malvaceae (kaasjeskruidfamilie)	Sandy soil	NA	31.4	NA	0.52	Root uptake, 65.1 % removal by root	Lofty <i>et al.,</i> 2014
Cucurbita pepo	Sierpompoen	Cucurbitaceae	Clayey soil	NA	23.5	NA	0.54	Root uptake, 65 % removal by root	Lofty <i>et al.,</i> 2014

Plant Species	Dutch name	Plant family	Soil type – substrate	Cr in soil (mg/kg)	Cr in root mg/kg DW	Cr in shoot (mg/kg DW)	TF	Mechanism and extra info	Reference
Alisma sp.	Weegbreesoort	Alismataceae	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	5.18			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Pulicaria dysenterica	Heelblaadjes	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	5.43			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Bidens cernua	Knikkend Tandzaad	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	1.36			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Cirsium arvense	Kruipende distel	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	7.17			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Bidens frondosa	Zwart tandzaad	Asteraceae (composietenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	3.42			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Symphytum officinale	Gewone smeerwortel	Boraginaceae (ruwbladigenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.82			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Scirpus maritimus	Zeebies	Cyperaceae (zeggefamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.06			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Juncus effusus	Pitrus (gewone of zachte rus)	Juncaceae (russenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	10	NA	1.93			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Juncus maritimus	Zeerus	Juncaceae (russenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	0.75			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Plant Species	Dutch name	Plant family	Soil type – substrate	Cr in soil (mg/kg)	Cr in root mg/kg DW	Cr in shoot (mg/kg DW)	TF	Mechanism and extra info	Reference
Juncus articulatus	Zomprus	Juncaceae (russenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	4.66			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Lycopus europaeus	Wolfspoot of zigeunerkruid	Lamiaceae	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.42			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Lythrum salicaria	Grote kattenstaart	Lythraceae (kattenstaartfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.2			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Epilobium hirsutum	Harig wilgenroosje	Onagraceae	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	1.65			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Veronica beccabunga	Beekpunge	Plantaginaceae (weegbreefamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	7.33			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Veronica anagallis- aquatica	Blauwe waterereprijs	Plantaginaceae (weegbreefamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	8.44			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Plantago major	Grote weegbree	Plantaginaceae (weegbreefamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	8.03			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Poa sp.	Beemdgrassoort	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	4.61			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Phragmites australis	Gewoon riet	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.98			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Plant Species	Dutch name	Plant family	Soil type – substrate	Cr in soil (mg/kg)	Cr in root mg/kg DW	Cr in shoot (mg/kg DW)	TF	Mechanism and extra info	Reference
Glyceria maxima	Liesgras	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.98			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Phalaris arundinacea	Rietgras of kanariegras	Poaceae (grassenfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	5.28			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Polygonum Iapathifolium	Beklierde duizendknoop	Polygonaceae (duizendknoopfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.94			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Rumex conglomeratus	Krulzuring	Polygonaceae (duizendknoopfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.47			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Rumex obtusifolius	Ridderzuring	Polygonaceae (duizendknoopfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.7			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Persicaria hydropiper	Waterpeper	Polygonaceae (duizendknoopfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	2.33			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Ranunculus repens	Kruipende boterbloem	Ranunculaceae	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	7.76			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Salix sp.	Wilg	Salicaceae	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	1.4		S.viminalis had high affinity in chromium retaining in all plant tissues	Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013, Ranieri <i>et al.,</i> 2014

Plant Species	Dutch name	Plant family	Soil type – substrate	Cr in soil (mg/kg)	Cr in root mg/kg DW	Cr in shoot (mg/kg DW)	TF	Mechanism and extra info	Reference
Typha latifolia	Grote lisdodde	Typhaceae (lisdoddefamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	1.34			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Urtica dioica	Gewone netel	Urticaceae (netelfamilie)	Tidal Marsh of Schelde estuary	130	NA	4.63			Teuchies <i>et al.,</i> 2013

Table 1: Overview of Cr tolerant and potential phytostabilizer plants. Individuals of the green marked plants were sampled at the nature reserve area or agricultural site, at the Grote Calie, Turnhout on June 19, 2020.

1.7.1 Phytostabilizers

A robust phytostabilizer should particularly have high root biomass with the ability to immobilize the contaminant or to hold them in the roots. The efficacy of phytostabilization can be measured by:

- 1 Mobility of metals in the rhizosphere
 - a. Measured by the bioconcentration factor (BCF), which is the ratio of metal concentration in the plant's shoots to the metal concentration in the soil.
 - b. BCF < 1 then the plant is more suitable for phytostabilization
- 2 Translocation efficiency from the roots to shoots
 - a. The ratio of metal concentration in the shoots to that of the roots.
 - TF < 1, then the plan is suitable for phytostabilization (Singh *et al.*, 2013).

1.8 MICROBIAL-ASSISTED PHYTOSTABILIZATION OF CR

Immobilization of Cr is one method of mitigating its contamination in the natural environment. Soil bacteria play a significant role in this immobilization process by first detoxifying Cr(VI) and then making it less soluble through bacterial-assisted reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) and precipitation of Cr(III), respectively. Soil bacteria benefit from living associated with plants because of higher nutrient availability and plants require plant growth promotion bacteria for the same reasons (Focardi *et al.*, 2013; Lin *et al.*, 2019). In conclusion, microorganisms remediating chromium contamination are not mutually exclusive from plants but rather work with them in an integrated and synergistic system.

1.8.1 Microbial-assisted reduction of Cr (VI)

Biotransformation of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) by bacteria is a process that involves an enzymatic reduction of Cr(VI), utilizing Cr(VI) as a final electron acceptor. Chromate reductase is an enzyme that is produced by Cr-resistant bacteria and can be exploited for remediation purposes (Mishra *et al.*, 2012). Numerous bacteria can reduce Cr(VI) to Cr(III) with reductase catalytic activity:

- 1 Pseudomonas putida
- 2 Escherichia coli
- 3 Desulfovibrio sp.
- 4 Bacillus sp.
- 5 Shewanella sp.
- 6 Arthrobacter sp.
- 7 Streptomyces sp.
- 8 Microbacterium sp.
- 9 Staphylococcus aureus
- 10 Pediococcus Pentosaceus

S. aureus and P. pentosaceus are strains previously found in tannery effluents collected from drain waters. Their chromate reductase activity can reduce more than 95% of Cr(VI) in the toxic concentration range (Bolan *et al.*, 2011; Mishra *et al.*, 2012). Some of these remediating bacteria, like the *Pseudomonas* and *Bacillus* sp., are reported as plant growth-promoting the release of phytohormones that help plants grow, enabling roots to exude more nutrients beneficial to these bacteria. *Bacillus* sp. alone reduces up to 75% under appropriate conditions (see the section, The Effects of pH on chromium precipitation) (Upadhyay *et al.*, 2017).

Cr(VI) can be toxic to the soil microbial diversity and impede on the nutritional status of the community. Chromium resistant bacteria can overcome these toxic effects and assist in remediation simultaneously (Smith *et al.*, 2000). Reducing Cr(VI) to Cr(III) is a favorable process in that Cr(III) is less soluble and more likely to complex out of solution through a precipitation process.

Alternatively, Cr-tolerant fungi can either reduce Cr(VI) into its trivalent form or take up Cr directly, removing it from the environment. Some like *Fusarium chlamydosporium* have been isolated from tannery wastewaters. Other examples of fungi with remedial capabilities of Cr are *Aspergillus sp., Rhizopus sp, Humicola grisea, and Nannizzia sp.* These fungi can remediate heavily contaminated sites where Cr(VI) concentrations go as high as 300mg/L and 400 mg/L. Generally, filamentous fungi are found to exhibit Cr-tolerance, especially those already found in polluted sites (Smith et al., 2000). Wu *et al.,* 2016 described that chromium immobilization by extraradical mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhiza contributes to plant Cr tolerance.

1.9 MICROBIAL-ASSISTED CHROMIUM PRECIPITATION

Cr precipitation is crucial to remediation in that it first decreases its availability to plants, which detoxifies the site, and secondly, under proper conditions, it sustains Cr in a solid phase to prevent plant uptake over time. Relative to Cr(VI), Cr(III) will easily precipitate out of solution and remain in a complex solid with stability. Bacteria can promote precipitation of Cr(III) by:

- 1 Producing acids, like sulfuric acid by *Thiobacillus* sp., to create a favourable acidic environment (see section The Effects of pH on chromium precipitation, for details).
- 2 Producing chelating agents that bind Cr(III) to organic compounds.
- 3 Producing ammonia that precipitates Cr(III) into a gray-green hydroxide.

To maintain Cr as a precipitate, appropriate environmental conditions must be set in place, monitored and maintained over time.

1.10 THE EFFECTS OF ORGANIC MATTER CONTENT ON CR PRECIPITATION

Cr bioavailability depends heavily on the soil's organic matter content. Chromium has a high affinity for organic matter. Under low organic matter conditions, sediments cannot effectively immobilize the metal, and, as a result, chromium's bioavailability increases. Conversely, higher organic matter contents have higher microbial activity, which leads to higher sulphide concentration and a more reduced state of sediment. Under these conditions, Cr precipitates as sulphide, which reduces its bioavailability to the plant.

A study by Du Laing *et al.*, 2009 studied 26 wetland plants in the sediment along the Scheldt river, where they found the average concentration of chromium in sediment to be 134 mg/kg DM. The average Cr content in the roots of reed plants (*Phragmites australis*) was 400 μ g/kg DM (see also Table 1).

Cr bioavailability can increase due to:

- 1 Degradation of organic matter.
- 2 Oxidation of metal sulphides.
- 3 Solubilization of manganese and iron hydroxides.

In conclusion, Cr stabilization mainly relies on a high organic matter concentration, reduction of metal sulphides, and removing essential compounds (Amato *et al.*, 2016).

1.11 THE EFFECTS OF PH ON CHROMIUM PRECIPITATION

The literature of Cr remediation suggests that precipitation is optimal under low acidic to neutral pH conditions. Additionally, it highlights the effects of microbial communities on establishing and modifying the pH by releasing exudates that can either promote a remedial setting for Cr precipitation or impede it. For instance, precipitation studies showed how a rhizobacteria consortium of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*), can effectively remove Cr(VI) out of solution when pH is above 4.

Conversely, Cr(VI) is mobilized in both highly acidic and alkaline soil pH. Cr cannot precipitate under highly acidic conditions (pH < 4). Instead, it forms into chromic acid (HCrO4). Therefore, it requires a bacterial-assisted pH increase (Chen *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, pH influences site dissociation where low acidity (pH 5) decreases Cr(VI) biosorption capacity and hence, the concentration of metal in speciation. At pH 5.5, Cr(III) can precipitate as chromium oxide. Under conditions where the pH is 5, biosorbents of Cr(III) are thus applied to tackle the ions that will not precipitate.

Ilias *et al.* (2011) paper on Cr(VI) reduction found that *P. pentosaceus* and *S. aureus* growth and chromate reductase activity was optimal between a pH of 7.0 and 8.0. Above pH 8.0, the reduction activity significantly declined. Other strains like *Bacillus* and *P. synxantha* isolates operated optimally at similar pH ranges (Ilia *et al.*, 2011). Potting experiments using barley showed how plant yields were affected by soil pH in pots contaminated with Cr(VI) whereas in soils contaminated with Cr(III) yields were influenced by the soil pH and Cr dosage.

1.12 CHROMIUM PHYTOREMEDIATION USING AMENDMENTS

Phytoremediation is a slow remediation process. For this reason, soil amendments are applied to enhance the rate of phytostabilization and achieve desired results faster. Commonly used soil amendments are biocompost, zeolite, phosphate fertilizers, sawdust, and limestone. Amendments can assist Cr(VI) remediation by:

- 1 Reduction to Cr(III) by increasing organic matter content.
- 2 Retention by applying high-binding capacity materials to the soil.

Amendments like zeolites are shown to effectively induce Cr reduction and retain Cr(III) in the zeolite pores. Additionally, the application of organic amendments, like manure, shows strong Cr remedial effects, low levels of Cr uptake, by forming Cr-organic complexes that are too high in molecular weight to be taken up by any root (Antoniadis *et al.*, 2017).

1.13 CHROMIUM HYPERACCUMULATORS

Metallophytes, commonly known as hyperaccumulators, are plants that grow on metalliferous soils and that can uptake and cope with copious amounts of metals in their tissues. They are an inexpensive solution to remediating contaminated sites by trace elements. Their only disadvantage is their commonly slow growth and their small size, which limits their speed of metal removal from the ground (Prasad *et al.*, 2005). Conversely, non-metallophytes are faster growing, higher biomass with an in-depth root system. These plant types can accumulate a wide range of heavy metals and are an excellent supplement to hyperaccumulators. Often, they are utilized in contaminated soils, sediments, and waters where chromium isn't the only metal to be removed (Ranieri *et al.*, 2014).

Chromium hyperaccumulators use a chemical process called selective chelation, where they mobilize the metal from the soil by secreting chelating agents that have a high affinity for chromium and facilitate their uptake by roots. Once in the roots, Cr(VI) is often sequestered in vacuoles into its less toxic form, Cr(III). Translocation of Cr from the root to the shoot system (Oliveira 2012; Shahid *et al.*, 2017).

1.14 CRITERIA FOR CHROMIUM HYPERACCUMULATORS

Metallophytes, commonly known as hyperaccumulators, are plants that grow on metalliferous soils and that can uptake and cope with copious amounts of metals in their tissues. They are an inexpensive solution to remediating contaminated sites by trace elements. Their only disadvantage is their commonly slow growth and their small size, which limits their speed of metal removal from the ground (Prasad *et al.*, 2005). Conversely, non-metallophytes are faster growing, higher biomass with an in-depth root system. These plant types can accumulate a wide range of heavy metals and are an excellent supplement to hyperaccumulators. Often, they are utilized in contaminated soils, sediments, and waters where chromium isn't the only metal to be removed (Ranieri *et al.*, 2014).

Chromium hyperaccumulators use a chemical process called selective chelation, where they mobilize the metal from the soil by secreting chelating agents that have a high affinity for chromium and facilitate their uptake by roots. Once in the roots, Cr(VI) is often sequestered in vacuoles into its less toxic form, Cr(III). Translocation of Cr from the root to the shoot system (Oliveira 2012; Shahid *et al.*, 2017).

Plant Species			Uptake Location	Type of accumulator
Cr (VI)				
Leptospermum scoparium	Tea Tree	20,000	Foliage ash	Very high
Azolla spp. (A. filiculoides,A. micrphylla, A. pinnata)(min)	Fern	5000	Whole plant	High
Azolla spp. (A. filiculoides,A. micrphylla, A. pinnata) (max)		15,000	Whole plant	High
Eichhornia crassipes (max)	Water Hyacinth	6,000	Roots	High
Eichhornia crassipes (min)	Water Hyacinth	3,900	Roots	Moderate
Azolla caroliniana	Fern	356	Whole plant	Low
Brassica juncea	Rapeseed	5740	Whole plant	High
Brassica napus	Rapeseed	306.1	Whole plant	Low
Callitriche cophocarpa	Water Starwort	1000	Shoots	Low
Convolvulus arvensis	Bindweed	3000	Leaves	Moderate
Gynura pseudochina	Succulent	1611	Whole plant	Low
Helianthus annuus	Common Sunflower	1912	Whole plant	Low
Leersia hexandra	Swamp Rice Grass	8938	Whole plant	High
Lemna minor	Duckweed	2870	Plant Tissue	Moderate
Marsilea drummondii	Fern	1300	Roots	Low
Myriophyllum brasiliense	Brazilian Watermilfoil	1770	Roots	Low
Najas indica	Guppy grass	458	Leaves	Low
Phragmites Australis	Common Reed	1919	Roots	Low
Polygonum hydropiperoides	Swamp Smartweed	2980	Roots	Moderate
Prosopis juliflora	Shrub	372	Whole plant	Low
Prosopsis laevigata	Flowering Tree	13551	Whole plant	High
Pteris vittata	Chinese Brake	6862	Whole plant	High
Salsola kali	Saltwort (S. Tragus - Ontario Wildflower)	4290	Whole plant	High
Salvinia natans	Floating Fern/Watermoss	12600	Whole plant	High
Spartina argentinensis	Tall Grassland	15100	Whole plant	Very high
Thlaspi caerulescens	Alpine Pennygrass	3400	Whole plant	Moderate
Cr (III)				
Genipa americana	Tropical Tree	3841	Root	Moderate
Salix babylonica	Chinese Willow Tree	2111	Roots	Moderate
S. matsudana	Chinese Willow Tree	2624	Roots	Moderate
S. matsudana x S. alba		1235	Roots	Low
Total Cr [Cr (III) + Rr (VI)]				
Tannery sludge* (Avena sativa, Triticum aestivum, Sorghum bicolor, Sorghum sudanese)	Common Oat Bread Wheat Grass Species Often Used In Ontario	10150	Shoots	High

Table 2: List of chromium hyperaccumulators, their capacity of chromium uptake, and their localization in the plant (Singh et al. 2013).

Reference Table						
[Cr] Ranges	Type of Accumulator					
> = 15000	Very High					
> = 4000, < 15000	High					
< 4000, > 2000	Moderate					
< 2000	Low					

2 REFERENCES

Amato, E. D., Simpson, S. L., Remaili, T. M., Spadaro, D. A., Jarolimek, C. V., & Jolley, D. F. (2016). Assessing the Effects of Bioturbation on Metal Bioavailability in Contaminated Sediments by Diffusive Gradients in Thin Films (DGT). *Environmental Science and Technology*, *50*(6), 3055–3064. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b04995

Bolan, N. S., Park, J. H., Robinson, B., Naidu, R., & Huh, K. Y. (2011). Phytostabilization. A green approach to contaminant containment. *In Advances in Agronomy* (Vol. 112). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385538-1.00004-4

Chromium (Cr) Toxicity: What Are the Physiologic Effects of Chromium Exposure? | ATSDR -Environmental Medicine & Environmental Health Education - CSEM. (n.d.). Retrieved June 17, 2020, from https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/csem/csem.asp?csem=10&po=10

Dhal, B., Thatoi, H. N., Das, N. N., & Pandey, B. D. (2013). Chemical and microbial remediation of hexavalent chromium from contaminated soil and mining/metallurgical solid waste: A review. In *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.01.048

Dong, Jing, *et al*. "A chromium-tolerant plant growing in Cr-contaminated land." International Journal of Phytoremediation 9.3 (2007): 167-179.

Focardi, S., Pepi, M., & E., S. (2013). Microbial Reduction of Hexavalent Chromium as a Mechanism of Detoxification and Possible Bioremediation Applications. In *Biodegradation - Life of Science*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/56365

Gheju, M., & Balcu, I. (2017). Assisted green remediation of chromium pollution. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 203, 920–924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.04.094

Godlewska, K. M. K. and M. I. (2018). Freshwater green macroalgae as a biosorbent of Cr(III) ions. Open Chemistry, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/chem-2018-0075

Gorny, J., Billon, G., Noiriel, C., Dumoulin, D., & Lesven, L. (n.d.). *Chromium behavior in aquatic environments : a review*. 1–46.

Ilias, M., Rafiqullah, I. M., Debnath, B. C., Mannan, K. S. Bin, & Hoq, M. M. (2011). Isolation and Characterization of Chromium(VI)-Reducing Bacteria from Tannery Effluents. Indian Journal of Microbiology, 51(1), 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-011-0095-4

Lin, H., You, S., & Liu, L. (2019). Characterization of Microbial Communities, Identification of Cr(VI) Reducing Bacteria in Constructed Wetland and Cr(VI) Removal Ability of Bacillus cereus. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49333-4

Linos, A., Petralias, A., Christophi, C. A., Christoforidou, E., Kouroutou, P., Stoltidis, M., Veloudaki, A., Tzala, E., Makris, K. C., & Karagas, M. R. (2011). Oral ingestion of hexavalent chromium through drinking water and cancer mortality in an industrial area of Greece - An ecological study. Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source, 10(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-10-50 Liu, S., Gao, H., Cheng, R., Wang, Y., Ma, X., Peng, C., & Xie, Z. (2020). Study on influencing factors and mechanism of removal of Cr(VI) from soil suspended liquid by bentonite-supported nanoscale zero-valent iron. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65814-3

Mishra, R., Sinha, V., Kannan, A., & Upreti, R. K. (2012). Reduction of chromium-VI by chromium resistant lactobacilli: A prospective bacterium for bioremediation. *Toxicology International, 19*(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-6580.94512

Oliveira, H. (2012). Chromium as an Environmental Pollutant: Insights on Induced Plant Toxicity. Journal of Botany, 2012, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/375843

Phytoremediation | Geoengineer.org. (n.d.). Retrieved June 16, 2020, from https://www.geoengineer.org/education/web-class-projects/cee-549-geoenvironmentalengineering-winter-2013/assignments/phytoremediation#disadvantages-of-phytoremediation

Phytoremediation | Learn Science at Scitable. (n.d.). Retrieved June 16, 2020, from https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/phytoremediation-17359669/

Singh, H. P., Mahajan, P., Kaur, S., Batish, D. R., & Kohli, R. K. (2013). Chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants. Environmental Chemistry Letters, 11(3), 229–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-013-0407-5

Smith, W. L., & Gadd, G. M. (2000). Reduction and precipitation of chromate by mixed culture sulphate- reducing bacterial biofilms. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *88*(6), 983–991. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.01066.x

Teuchies, J., Jacobs, S., Oosterlee, L., Bervoets, L., & Meire, P. (2013). Role of plants in metal cycling in a tidal wetland: Implications for phytoremidiation. *Science of the Total Environment, 445–446* (2013), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.088

Thangadurai, T. D., Manjubaashini, N., Thomas, S., & Maria, H. J. (2020). Nanostructured Materials for Environmental Remediation. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-26145-0_15

Upadhyay, N., Vishwakarma, K., Singh, J., Mishra, M., Kumar, V., Rani, R., Mishra, R. K., Chauhan, D. K., Tripathi, D. K., & Sharma, S. (2017). Tolerance and Reduction of Chromium(VI) by Bacillus sp. MNU16 Isolated from Contaminated Coal Mining Soil. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *8*, 778. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00778

Vandecasteele B, De Vos B, & Tack FMG. (2002). Cadmium and zinc uptake by volunteer willow species and elder rooting in polluted dredged sediment disposal sites. *Sci Total En-viron*. 299:191–205

Wu, Songlin, *et al*. "Chromium immobilization by extraradical mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhiza contributes to plant chromium tolerance." Environmental and Experimental Botany 122 (2016): 10-18.

2.1 REFERENCES TABLES 1 & 2

Afonso, T. F., Demarco, C. F., Pieniz, S., Quadro, M. S., Camargo, F. A. O., & Andreazza, R. (2020). Bioprospection of indigenous flora grown in copper mining tailing area for phytoremediation of metals. *Journal of Environmental Management, 256*(November 2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109953

Antoniadis, V., Polyzois, T., Golia, E. E., & Petropoulos, S. A. (2017). Hexavalent chromium availability and phytoremediation potential of *Cichorium spinosum* as affected by manure, zeolite and soil ageing. *Chemosphere*, *171*, 729–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.11.146

Atia, A., Barhoumi, Z., Mokded, R., Abdelly, C., & Smaoui, A. (2011). Environmental eco-physiology and economical potential of the halophyte Crithmum maritimum L. (Apiaceae). *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, *5*(16), 3564–3571.

Barbosa, R. M. T., de Almeida, A. A. F., Mielke, M. S., Loguercio, L. L., Mangabeira, P. A. O., & Gomes, F. P. (2007). A physiological analysis of Genipa americana L.: A potential phytoremediator tree for chromium polluted watersheds. *Environmental and Experimental Botany, 61*(3), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.06.001

Giachetti, G., & Sebastiani, L. (2007). Effects of tannery waste on growth dynamics and metal uptake in Salix alba L. *Plant Biosystems*, *141*(1), 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/11263500601153511

Gruber, H., Wiessner, A., Kuschk, P., Kaestner, M., & Appenroth, K. J. (2008). Physiological responses of Juncus effusus (rush) to chromium and relevance for wastewater treatment in constructed wetlands. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, *10*(2), 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510801913306

Juel, Md. Ariful & Dey, Thuhin Kumar & Akash, Ibrahim & Das, Kushol. (2018). Heavy Metals Phytoremidiation Potential of Napier Grass (Pennisetum Purpureum) Cultivated in Tannery Sludge.

Lotfy, S. M., & Mostafa, A. Z. (2014). Phytoremediation of contaminated soil with cobalt and chromium. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 144*(PB), 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2013.07.003

Michalak, I., & Chojnacka, K. (2010). Interactions of metal cations with anionic groups on the cell wall of the macroalga Vaucheria sp. *Engineering in Life Sciences, 10*(3), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.200900039

Murtic, S., Jurkovic, J., Basic, E., & Hekic, E. (2019). Assessment of wild plants for phytoremediation of heavy metals in soils surrounding the thermal power station. *Agronomy Research*, *17*(1), 234–244. https://doi.org/10.15159/AR.19.005

Parzych, A. E. (2016). Accumulation of chemical elements by organs of Sparganium erectum L. and their potential use in phytoremediation process. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, *17*(1), 89–100. https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/61195

Ranieri, Ezio, and Petros Gikas. "Effects of plants for reduction and removal of hexavalent chromium from a contaminated soil." *Water, air, & soil pollution* 225.6 (2014): 1981.

Ranieri, Ezio, et al. "Ailanthus altissima and Phragmites australis for chromium removal from a contaminated soil." Environmental Science and Pollution Research 23.16 (2016): 15983-15989.

Santos, E. S., Abreu, M. M., Peres, S., Magalhães, M. C. F., Leitão, S., Pereira, A. S., & Cerejeira, M. J. (2017). Potential of Tamarix africana and other halophyte species for phytostabilisation of contaminated salt marsh soils. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, *17*(5), 1459–1473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-015-1333-x

Sampanpanish, P., Pongsapich, W., Khaodhiar, S., & Khan, E. (2006). Chromium removal from soil by phytoremediation with weed plant species in Thailand. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution: Focus*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11267-005-9006-1

Shahandeh, H., and L. R. Hossner. "Plant screening for chromium phytoremediation." *International journal of phytoremediation* 2.1 (2000): 31-51.

Singh, H. P., Mahajan, P., Kaur, S., Batish, D. R., & Kohli, R. K. (2013). Chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants. Environmental Chemistry Letters, 11(3), 229–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-013-0407-5

Teuchies, J., Jacobs, S., Oosterlee, L., Bervoets, L., & Meire, P. (2013). Role of plants in metal cycling in a tidal wetland: Implications for phytoremidiation. *Science of the Total Environment, 445–446*(2013), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.088

Yu, X. Z., & Gu, J. D. (2007). Accumulation and distribution of trivalent chromium and effects on hybrid willow (*Salix matsudana Koidz* x *alba* L.) metabolism. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *52*(4), 503–511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-006-0155-7 Yu, X. Z., Gu, J. D., & Xing, L. Q. (2008). Differences in uptake and translocation of hexavalent and trivalent chromium by two species of willows. *Ecotoxicology*, *17*(8), 747–755. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-008-0224-y

Vondráčková, S., Hejcman, M., Száková, J., Müllerová, V., & Tlustoš, P. (2014). Soil chemical properties affect the concentration of elements (N, P, K, Ca, Mg, As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mn, Ni, Pb, and Zn) and their distribution between organs of *Rumex obtusifolius*. *Plant and Soil*, *379*(1–2), 231–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2058-0